THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001852

Case No. 2017-GS-40-5220; 5223; 5224; 5226-5227; 5229-5232

---

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

James Kester,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Dayne Phillips  
PRICE BENOWITZ LLP  
1614 Taylor Street, Ste. D.  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 807-0234  
Attorney for Appellant

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 04 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANT KNOWINGLY, INTELLIGENTLY, AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL BY FAILING TO CONDUCT A COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL HEARING BEFORE GRANTING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR SELF-REPRESENTATION?
  
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANT KNOWINGLY, INTELLIGENTLY, AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL WHEN APPELLANT DID NOT COMPREHEND THE DANGERS OF SELF-REPRESENTATION BASED ON HIS RESPONSES TO THE TRIAL COURT?
  
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADVISING APPELLANT THAT HE HAD TEN PEREMPTORY STRIKES PRIOR TO JURY SELECTION WHEN APPELLANT DETRIMENTALLY RELIED ON THIS ADVICE AND STRUCK A POTENTIAL JUROR BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT INFORMED APPELLANT THAT HE ONLY HAD FIVE STRIKES?
  
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL AFTER THE COURT PROVIDED AN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY COERCIVE *ALLEN* CHARGE TO THE JURY WHEN VIEWED IN ITS CONTEXT AND UNDER ALL CIRCUMSTANCES?
  
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN IMPOSING CONSECUTIVE SENTENCES THAT AMOUNT TO A *DE FACTO* LIFE SENTENCE WHEN THE GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONATE AGGREGATE SENTENCE IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT BASED ON COMPARATIVE SENTENCES AND CLOSELY CONNECTED OFFENSES?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 13, 2017, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant James Kester for twelve counts of Attempted Murder. R. 451 – 468.

On October 4, 2018, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman for a pre-trial hearing based on his request to represent himself and to relieve his retained counsel, John Delgado and Bill Nettles; who were also present at the hearing. Assistant Solicitor Vance Eaton appeared on behalf of the State. The Court granted Appellant's motions to relieve counsel and to represent himself. R. 29, ll. 4-6.

On October 8, 2018, Appellant proceeded to trial *pro se* with standby counsel, John Delgado and Bill Nettles, before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. R. 31. Assistant Solicitors Vance Eaton and Samuel McGlothlin prosecuted the case on behalf of the State.

On October 10, 2018, the jury found Appellant guilty on eight counts of Assault and Battery, First Degree, and one count of Assault and Battery, Third Degree. R. 386, l. 13 – 389, l. 10. The jury also found Appellant not guilty on three counts of Attempted Murder. R. 386, ll. 20-24; R. 388, ll. 17-21; R. 389, ll. 3-7.

On October 12, 2018, the Trial Court sentenced Appellant to ten years imprisonment for each conviction of Assault and Battery, First Degree, and thirty days imprisonment on the conviction for Assault and Battery, Third Degree. R. 439, ll. 2-23. The Trial Court further ordered Appellant to serve the sentences consecutively. R. 439, ll. 24-25.

## RELEVANT FACTS

### *Background*

The State's theory of the case: Appellant intentionally struck twelve people with his car at a cemetery. Specifically, the State sought to prove that Appellant went to the funeral because of his deceased daughter's prior involvement with the South Carolina Department of Mental Health, and the funeral's connection to a woman who worked at the S.C. Department of Mental Health. Appellant consistently maintained that he "blacked out" and did not intend to hurt anyone.

### *Pre-Trial Hearing*

On October 4, 2018, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman for a pre-trial hearing with his attorneys, John Delgado and Bill Nettles. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Eaton informed the Trial Court that "[Appellant] is first up next week on twelve counts of attempted murder from July 2017" and that Appellant "intends to represent himself[.]" R. 4, 6-11.

Defense Counsel Delgado acknowledged their representation of Appellant: "We are counsel in this case, and we do think it would be a mistake" for Appellant to represent himself. R. 4, ll. 20-21. Delgado further explained, "We know his case well enough that we'd say he needs counsel and we'd like him to stay with us." R. 5, ll. 3-4.

In response to the Trial Court's questions, Appellant maintained that he wanted to represent himself and that his current lawyers could remain as stand-by counsel. R. 5, l. 22 – 6, l. 14. Appellant informed the Trial Court that he was sixty-six years old, retired/unemployed, and had studied "three years of college at the University of South Carolina." R. 6, ll. 15-24. Appellant also told the Trial Court that he had "several different jobs" during his life: Landscaping, Allen Chemical Company, caretaker for his

mother, and “took care of my daughter [for] about twenty years because she got ruined by the Department of Mental Health.” R. 6, l. 22 – 7, l. 14.

Appellant further maintained that he had never been treated for alcohol, drugs, or mental illness. R. 7, ll. 15-24; R. 8, ll. 12-18. Assistant Solicitor Eaton interjected, “**In this case there was a retained psychiatrist, Your Honor.**” R. 7, l. 25 – 8, l. 1 (emphasis added). The Trial Court then asked Defense Counsel, “Okay, and what was his finding, Mr. Delgado?” Delgado replied, “[Appellant] was competent to give testimony, competent to stand trial.” R. 8, ll. 2-8. The Trial Court asked Appellant if he agreed with Delgado’s statement about the psychiatrist’s findings, and he responded, “Yes, sir.” R. 8, ll. 9-10.

Appellant again denied ever being treated for alcohol, drugs, or mental illness. R. 8, ll. 12-18. Appellant also maintained that he fully understood and comprehended the nature of the hearing. R. 8, ll. 19-21. The Trial Court further explored, “Are you aware of any physical, any emotional or nervous problems, or anything that might affect your ability to understand what we are assessing here today, sir?” and Appellant replied, “I understand completely.” R. 8, l. 22 – 9, l. 1.

The Trial Court next inquired, “Have you ever studied the law before?” and Appellant replied, “I’ve read law books about the law, and **I don’t know too much about it.**” R. 9, ll. 4-12 (emphasis added). The Trial Court continued questioning Appellant, “Have you ever been in criminal court before?” In response, Appellant provided the following explanation of his experience from a Magistrate Court Jury Trial:

**No, Sir. I had one small misdemeanor and that’s all.**  
That was 1990 . . . For some reason, the police arrested me  
and charged me with four things and I defended myself,  
and they stacked the charges so much that I - - I was

acquitted on two of them and two I was not. I think I had three weekends in jail and that was the extent of it.

R. 9, l. 13 – 10, l. 12 (emphasis added).

The Trial Court then advised Appellant that he was charged with twelve counts of attempted Murder, and Appellant indicated that he understood the charges and maximum possible sentences. R. 10, ll. 15-20. Appellant also told the Trial Court, “I’ve got a Five Million Dollar bond, and I see guys who have been there [Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center] for killing - - I see guys with two or three killings who get out on a Hundred to a Hundred and Fifty Thousand [dollar bond].” R. 11, ll. 8-12. This response prompted the Trial Court to reiterate that his questions were related to the possible punishment for Appellant’s charges. R. 11, ll. 13-20.

The Trial Court continued and asked Appellant if he knew the elements for attempted murder, and Appellant responded, “Yes, sir.” R. 11, ll. 21-24. The Trial Court also broadly reviewed the definition of attempted murder with Appellant. The Trial Court further inquired of Appellant, “How do you want to get rid of [the charges for attempted murder]?” Appellant provided the following response:

**Well, you know, to me I’ve been incompetent up to now, and now I’m trying to get the discovery. I’m trying to get from the State a few things. I didn’t get the discovery until a few days ago.**

**When I called [Defense Counsel,] they never took my call but maybe two times in fifteen months I’ve been incarcerated. You know, so I nodded off on it.**

You know, they’ve got a lot of things. They’ve got a Hundred Thousand Dollars which is a lot of money, and I don’t expect to get all if I paid (sic) that much but, I mean, I know I have got no justice from my lawyers.

**I think [Defense Counsel] they have been negligent** and due diligence I know has been fairly minimum, and since there's no due diligence.

R. 13, ll. 2-15 (emphasis added).

The Trial Court noted Defense Counsels' experience as criminal defense lawyers and warned Appellant, "you are charged with crimes for which you can get a lifetime."

R. 13, l. 16 – 14, l. 24. The Trial Court also informed Appellant that hybrid counsel is not allowed: "You will be on your own in trying your case except for being able to consult with [Defense Counsel]." R. 15, l. 25 – 16, l. 1.

The Trial Court continued with the colloquy, "It may be that you are familiar with the rules of criminal procedure" and Appellant interjected, "**I'm not too familiar with that.**" R. 16, ll. 3-7 (emphasis added). The Trial Court then asked, "Are you familiar with the rules of evidence?" Appellant replied, "The rules of evidence in my case would be - - I'm pretty sure I know that, yes, sir." R. 16, ll. 8-10.

The Trial Court further questioned Appellant about "hearsay" and the knowledge required to understand the rules of evidence. R. 16, l. 19 – 17, l. 7. Appellant responded simply, "Well, **I may not be that familiar with it but I know what it is.**" R. 17, ll. 8-9 (emphasis added).

The Trial Court asked, "Do you have any motions that you plan to make concerning anything?" and Appellant stated, "**I might need a little help or something about that.**" R. 17, ll. 10-13 (emphasis added). The Trial Court proceeded to explain that Appellant had the right to decide whether to testify, and if he did testify, the State could ask him questions. R. 17, ll. 17-25.

The Trial Court continued questioning Appellant, "Are you ready to go to trial on

Monday?” In response, Appellant stated:

**Like I said, I just got some stuff today that I probably should have got a long time ago or maybe within a few days. [Defense Counsel] said he just got it from the prosecution. I’ve got to get up to speed on it but I think I am though. I’ve got to do some preparation but I think I am though.**

R. 19, ll. 8-16 (emphasis added).

In discussing the jury selection process, Appellant indicated that he would have ten peremptory strikes, and the Trial Court confirmed, **“you’ll have ten.”** R. 19, l. 23 – 20, l. 9 (emphasis added). The Trial Court further explained Appellant’s constitutional trial right not to testify, the State’s burden of proof, Appellant’s right to present a defense, and standby counsel’s role during the trial. R. 20, l. 8 – 21, l. 11.

The Trial Court reiterated that Appellant had “highly skilled lawyers” who “have given good results to many clients”. R. 23, ll. 1-4. In response, Appellant stated that “I didn’t see it with me though. **Like I said, I’m playing catch up right now with some stuff they are giving me - - right now.**” R. 23, ll. 5-7 (emphasis added). The Trial Court asked Appellant if he needed more time regarding the decision to represent himself, and Appellant replied, “I’ve made up my mind, yes.” R. 23, ll. 22-25.

After confirming Appellant’s request to represent himself and to have stand-by counsel, the Trial Court told Appellant, “[I]f you change your mind and you decide that you want to - - that you are over your head and you better let the lawyers take over just let me know at any point in time[.]” R. 24, ll. 1-15. Notably, Appellant indicated his lack of experience and knowledge of the State’s case:

**I’ve been there [in jail] for fifteen months . . . and this is really my first stay in jail, . . .the lawyers know the facts . . . [A]s far as mental, . . . I’ve never had a trial. I’ve**

never been on any anti-psychotic drugs. That's what they demolish my daughter with, and I tried to stop it but they banned me from even seeing her for six hundred days. That is what they did. So when she got out she didn't even know what her name was.

R. 24, l. 23 – 25, l. 8 (emphasis added).

The Trial Court noted the following question regarding whether Appellant was mentally ill:

**All right. So with regard to Mr. Kester, to be judged mentally ill a person needs to be in a mental institution until they are judged to be in a condition to be transferred to the general population or transferred from a mental ward or mental place to regular population. Is that your understanding?**

R. 25, ll. 20-25 (emphasis added). An “unidentified person” in the courtroom responded, “Yes, Your Honor. That is a minor step in the whole process.” R. 26, ll. 1-2.

Appellant's provided the following response to the Trial Court about his knowledge of the plea negotiations between Defense Counsel and the State:

Yeah, [Defense Counsel] they tried to get them [the State] to reduce the charges for a plea bargain, and - - and, like I said, my daughter was given so much toxic drugs that she couldn't take it anymore.

So people who have got mental problems, people with poor mental health, I mean, I got - - I got that in writing. One day she drank straight forty glasses of water her brain was cooked so bad. In the middle of the night she'd be hollering, please help. . . . I mean, I tried different things and I got arrested at the time for going to visit her when they denied it, and they threw the case out because they did have a trespass in the Department of Mental Health. They went to the General Assembly and got a (inaudible) and solely because of me.

I mean, after they threw my case out I went to the General Assembly. I don't even think they are allowed to do that to one individual but they did it anyway.

R. 26, l. 12 – 27, l. 13.

After the Trial Court explained that he does not know the specific facts of Appellant's case, Appellant further noted:

With all that's going on, I'm worried I left out something while they were doing this to my daughter. **You said had I been under any stress, and I should have said yes.** I lost my left eye due to this and I've been trying to get them to get those records that they been telling me a year that they did and that is another thing. Like I said, **they've been negligent and that's why I had to do this.**

R. 27, l. 20 – 28, l. 3 (emphasis added). Appellant reiterated, "Well, they rarely took my phone calls over all the time but two times. Maybe they will now, you know." R. 28, ll. 21-22. The Court ultimately ruled, "I am granting your motion to relieve them [Defense Counsel] and for you to proceed to represent yourself. Be sure to be ready to go on Monday at this point." R. 29, ll. 4-6.

***Additional Pre-Trial Matters***

On October 8, 2018, Assistant Solicitor Eaton called Appellant's case for trial. R. 40, ll. 11-14. The Trial Court asked if there were any additional matters to address before *voir dire* and jury selection, and Assistant Solicitor Eaton listed issues related to the 911 call, the waiver of Appellant's right to counsel, the voluntariness of Appellant's statements, and the seized items related to a search warrant. R. 40, l. 22 – 41, l. 19. Notably, Assistant Solicitor Eaton told the Trial Court, "**There's also the question of . . . whether Mr. Kester knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel[.]**" R. 41, ll. 4-6 (emphasis added).

The Trial Court then asked Appellant, "Mr. Kester, what's your position concerning the 9-1-1 call and the statements you made to the police and the search

warrant?”. Appellant responded, “They can play it. I’m not waiving anything on this . . . You know, **I just got discovery a few days ago. I’m having to play catch-up on everything.**” R. 41, l. 20 – 42, l. 1 (emphasis added). Notably, the Trial Court did not address the issue of whether Appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel.

Appellant had no questions for the testifying law enforcement officer regarding the voluntariness of his statement and provided no argument to the Trial Court regarding the admissibility of his statements. R. 46, ll. 3-10. The Trial Court subsequently asked Appellant, “Well, do you want the jury to know that you’ve been arrested by the Department of Mental Health before [since it is referenced in Appellant’s recorded statement]?”, and Appellant replied, “Yes, I do.” R. 48, ll. 1-4.

Appellant also had no questions for the testifying law enforcement officer regarding the existence of probable cause for the search warrant and provided no argument to the Trial Court regarding the admissibility of the seized evidence. R. 52, l. 9 – 54, l. 7.

Appellant again had no questions for the testifying witness regarding the authenticity of the 9-1-1 recorded phone calls and provided no argument to the Trial Court regarding the admissibility of the recordings. R. 58, ll. 1-7.

### ***Jury Selection***

Appellant had no questions or arguments regarding the Trial Court’s *voir dire* of the venire. R. 76, ll. 11-15. After Appellant had struck one potential juror, the Trial Court interjected, “**The strikes are actually five and five, not five and ten.**” R. 77, l. 4 – 78, l. 3 (emphasis added). After Appellant struck a second potential juror, the Trial

Court reminded Appellant that he had three strikes remaining. R. 78, ll. 22-25. Appellant responded, “I thought I had ten”, and the Trial Court admitted, “**Initially I did as well but not for attempted murder.**” R. 79, ll. 3-14 (emphasis added).

Appellant subsequently argued to the Trial Court, “Your Honor, I might not have struck one of the first for cause thinking I had ten . . . the first couple of ones **I may not have struck if I knew I only had five** [and] [s]ince I’ve only got one more, you can seat the juror.” R. 84, ll. 9-13 (emphasis added). Appellant exhausted his final strike on juror number 176, David McMahan, who knew, John Montgomery, the former Dean at the University of South Carolina School of Law. R. 86, l. 1 – 87, l. 4. At the conclusion of jury selection, Appellant provided no additional arguments to the Trial Court. R. 96, ll. 5-7.

### ***Trial***

During the trial, Appellant did not ask a majority of the witnesses any questions on cross-examination and made very few objections to the State’s evidence.

### ***Jury Note I***

On October 10, 2018, the Trial Court read aloud a note sent by the jury during deliberations:

We, the jurors, are in a need of a way to assign the pictures to the names of each of the victims. We also need chalk. There’s a couple of asterisks. Can we have the electronic files that have the names assigned. Another asterisk. We only have pictures of nine of the victims, but verdicts needed for twelve.

R. 360, ll. 15-23. The Trial Court allowed the jury to have chalk and heard arguments from the State and Appellant regarding the jury’s request for the electronic files and additional pictures. R. 360, l. 24 – 379, l. 1. Appellant objected, arguing that the

submission of these requests is creating additional evidence. R. 373, l. 16; R. 377, ll. 13-14. The Trial Court ultimately decided to send the indictments to the jury, denied the State's request to attach pictures to the indictments, and instructed the jury based on his rulings. R. 377, l. 15 – 380, l. 6.

### ***Jury Note II / Hung Jury***

After continuing to deliberate, the jury sent out a second note stating, “We, the jury, have not come to a unanimous verdict concerning all twelve counts and at this point **we represent a hung jury.**” R. 380, ll. 19-22 (emphasis added). The State indicated that the jury “can render a verdict on some charges and others can mis-try.” R. 381, ll. 2-3. The State also noted, “[I]t’s, of course, in your discretion to give an *Allen* charge.” R. 381, ll. 3-4. Appellant moved for a mistrial and objected to the Trial Court instructing the jury with an *Allen* charge. R. 381, ll. 6-14. The Trial Court then instructed the jury with an *Allen* charge. R. 382, l. 1 – 385, l. 15. Specifically, the Trial Court’s response and instruction to the jury are as follows:

Madam Forelady and Members of the Jury, you sent out a note saying: We, the jury, have not come to a unanimous verdict concerning all twelve counts. At this point we represent a hung jury.

As I stated to you in the jury charge, jury instructions, the verdict of the jury must be a unanimous verdict as to each and every count. Well, not as to each and every count, but as to each and every indictment and each indictment must be considered separately. So you have twelve different indictments for which you can render a verdict on and each is to be considered separately.

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