ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Hon. Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001852

RECEIVED

OCT 02 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES KESTER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

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

Applicable law.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to represent himself at trial. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 830 and n.40 (1975) (explaining the history of the right to self-representation and citing Laws of the Province of South Carolina, 518–519 (Trott 1736)). His choice “must be honored” even though it will usually be “to his own detriment.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834. The defendant should, however, “be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will establish that ‘he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.’” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835. His decision should be made “knowingly and intelligently.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835.

When determining whether the decision to waive counsel is knowing and intelligent, the trial court should consider the defendant’s mental capacity. A defendant who is competent to stand trial is competent to waive the right to counsel. Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 399 (1993). This includes the right to serve as one’s own attorney at trial. State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 36, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014). A defendant’s legal knowledge or technical “ability to represent himself has no bearing upon his competence to choose self-representation.” Godinez, 509 U.S. at 400. However, a trial court has the discretion “take realistic account of the particular defendant’s mental capacities” and appoint counsel over a defendant’s objection if the court finds the defendant, due to “severe mental illness,” is intellectually incapable of representing himself without the trial turning into a humiliating spectacle. Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 177 (2008).

When the trial court has “reason to believe” a defendant is not competent to stand trial “because the person lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense,” the court should order the defendant to be evaluated by the state Department of Mental Health, or by a private evaluator. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410(A) and (C) (2018).

The defendant bears the burden of proving his incompetence by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 149, 502 S.E.2d 99, 108 (1998).

Discussion.

The record supports the trial court's decision to grant Kester's motion to proceed pro se. Despite repeated and thorough warnings from Judge Newman, Kester was persistent and unequivocal in his request to represent himself. (R.p.5–29). Particularly given the overwhelming proof that Kester committed the alleged acts, Kester apparently believed he had nothing to lose from representing himself, and stood a better chance at acquittal by personally pleading his case to the jury on the theory that it would be unjust for the jury to convict him. See Faretta, 422 U.S. at 829, n.37 (discussing “William Penn's belief that an accused should go free if he could personally persuade a jury that it would be unjust to convict him”). As he told the court, “if I get ten years that's the same as me getting thirty or forty years at my age” (R.p.12). Kester clearly understood the dangers of self-representation, even paraphrasing (and rejecting) the maxim that “A man that represents himself has a fool for a client.” (R.p.22). Despite his lack of legal knowledge, Kester was confident that he could do a better job than his lawyers. Indeed, Kester achieved an unexpectedly favorable result, escaping conviction for attempted murder and the lesser-included ABHAN.

Kester claims the court erred by “fail[ing] to conduct a competency hearing.” But Judge Newman did conduct a lengthy hearing to address Kester's motion, a great deal of which was spent in a colloquy with Kester during which Judge Newman inquired about Kester's life history, including his mental health. Judge Newman learned that Kester graduated high school, attended three years of college as a math major, held several jobs, and spent years as a caretaker for his disabled daughter. (R.p.6–7). Kester intelligently answered the court's questions and told the

court he completely understood the proceedings against him. (R.p.9). His complaints about his lawyers were rational, centering on his assertion that they had not been communicative with him leading up to trial and had not shared discovery with him in a timely manner. (R.p.13). He indicated he understood the elements of attempted murder. (R.p.12). Kester's responses demonstrated an understanding of the proceedings against him and the mental capacity to defend himself as well as could be expected for a non-lawyer. Judge Newman would have erred if he had denied Kester's request. See State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 36, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014).

Furthermore, Kester has not shown prejudice because the end result he asserts should have occurred—a competency exam—*has already occurred*. Kester was evaluated by a medical professional of defense counsel's choosing and found to be competent. (R.p.8). The court was aware of this and neither Kester, his attorneys, or the solicitor requested any further evaluation. Tellingly, Kester's lawyers represented to the court that he was competent and capable of self-representation. John Delgado told the court that he believed Kester had "been responsible enough that he can sit here and act and we can stay here as stand-by counsel for him." (R.p.5). Surely, if either of Kester's eminently qualified and experienced lawyers had any doubts about his competency, they would have informed the court.

This case illustrates the "damned if you do, damned if you don't" nature of pro se representation requests, where the trial court's decision will be raised on appeal no matter how he rules. It also illustrates the wisdom of the highly deferential standard of review in competency cases, because the trial judge sits in a much better position to ascertain the defendant's faculties and evaluate his mental capacity. State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 441, 641 S.E.2d 912, 920 (Ct. App. 2007). Judge Newman had no reason to believe Kester was incompetent, and he did not abuse his discretion by declining to sua sponte order any additional

evaluation. Rather, Judge Newman correctly recognized he was required to honor Kester's unequivocal request to exercise his fundamental constitutional right to represent himself, as our state appellate courts and the United States Supreme Court have repeatedly instructed. See State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 813 S.E.2d 487 (2018); reh'g denied (May 25, 2018), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 791 (2019). Evidence supports the trial court's ruling. This Court should affirm.

II.

Kester's argument that the trial court erred by "advising" him on the number of jury strikes is not preserved for review because the issue was not raised or ruled on by the trial court. Even if preserved, Kester has not shown error because it was his responsibility to know the correct number of strikes. Finally, he suffered no prejudice because the court gratuitously struck a sixth juror for cause, and there is no evidence that any of the seated jurors were biased against him.

Kester claims the trial court erred by "advising" him during the pretrial hearing that he had ten peremptory jury strikes, when in fact he had five. Kester's argument is not preserved for review because he did not raise the issue at trial despite being given a clear opportunity. Furthermore, it is not the trial court's responsibility to "advise" a pro se defendant on the applicable law. Pro se litigants are held to the same standards as attorneys, and it was Kester's responsibility to know the correct number of strikes. Finally, Kester has not shown prejudice because the court gratuitously struck a sixth juror for cause, and there is no evidence that any of the seated jurors were biased against him. This Court should affirm.

Relevant facts.

Towards the end of the pretrial hearing held the week before trial, the court's colloquy with Kester briefly turned to jury selection. Seeking to demonstrate to the court that he understood the jury selection process, Kester asserted the prosecutor would have five strikes and "we'll have ten." (R.p.20). Apparently without giving it much thought, Judge Newman agreed that "you'll have ten," and continued to explain the trial process. At trial the following week, jury selection began but neither Kester, the prosecutor, nor stand-by counsel brought up the number of strikes. After Kester struck the first potential juror, the court interjected that "The strikes are actually five and five, not five and ten." (R.p.50). After Kester struck a second juror, the court reminded him that he had "Two down and three to go." (R.p.50). Kester then

responded, "I thought I had ten," to which the court responded, "Initially I did as well, but not for attempted murder." Kester accepted the court's response and continued with jury selection. (R.p.79).

Error Preservation.

This issue is not preserved for review. Kester's confusion about jury strikes became apparent after he struck a second juror. The trial court repeated that Kester had five strikes. (R.p.79). Kester indicated he thought he had ten strikes, and the court informed him that "Initially I did as well, but not for attempted murder." Kester responded only by saying "Okay." Judge Newman gave Kester a clear opportunity to raise the issue after jury selection, asking the parties whether they had "any matters of law regarding the jury selection." Kester responded, "No, your honor." (R.p.96). Thus, Kester both affirmatively accepted the trial court's ruling and failed to raise the issue when given a clear opportunity. State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 486, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1992) (affirmatively accepting trial court's ruling waives issue on appeal); Stephens v. CSX Transportation, Inc., 400 S.C. 503, 514, 735 S.E.2d 505, 511 (Ct. App. 2012) (an issue not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal because the trial court did not have an "opportunity to exercise its discretion"). Given Kester's statement that he had no complaints about jury selection, the court was justified in believing Kester was satisfied with the makeup of the jury and did not want to re-do the selection process. Kester should not be allowed to complain now on appeal after explicitly stating he had no objections at trial. Because Kester did not raise this issue at trial or ask the court for relief, he failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

Responsibilities of a pro se litigant.

Even if preserved, Kester has not demonstrated error on the part of the trial judge. While Judge Newman mistakenly agreed with Kester's pretrial assertion that he would have ten strikes, Kester had plenty of time to refer to the relevant statute and confirm this important procedural rule. He failed to do so. A pro se litigant who knowingly elects to represent himself assumes full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law. State v. Burton, 356 S.C. 259, 266, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9, n. 5 (2003). It was not the trial court's responsibility to advise him of the applicable law before trial began.

In fairness to Judge Newman and the parties, the confusion about the number of strikes in an attempted murder case is an easy mistake to make, evidenced by the fact that neither standby counsel nor the prosecutor caught the mistake. The fact that defendants are given only five strikes instead of ten in attempted murder cases is an anomaly in our law compared to other comparably serious offenses. See S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1110. But even if the trial court mistakenly believed Kester was entitled to ten strikes, he did not have the discretion to give Kester more. Accordingly, this case is distinguishable from State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), where the defendant relied on the court's assertion—made during trial—that he would give a certain jury charge. Judge Newman's only option was to start the selection process over again. Judge Newman gave Kester a clear opportunity to request this, asking the parties whether they had "any matters of law regarding the jury selection." Kester responded, "No, your honor." (R.p.96). The trial court was not required to make Kester's motion for him. See Martinez v. Court of Appeal of California, Fourth Appellate Dist., 528 U.S. 152, 162 (2000) ("A trial judge is under no duty to provide personal instruction on courtroom procedure or to perform any legal 'chores' for the defendant that counsel would normally carry out."). Kester has not demonstrated error on the part of the trial court.

Prejudice.

Even if the court erred, Kester suffered no prejudice. A defendant has no right to trial by a particular jury. State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 416, 645 S.E.2d 904, 910 (2007). Kester has not identified any seated juror who had any bias against him. The jurors seated after Kester exhausted his strikes were a car salesman, a school principal, a worker at a pharmaceutical plant, a hospital support specialist, a quality assurance manager at an army hospital, a student, and an employee of Lexington Medical Center. (R.p.79–92). Kester raised no objections to any of these jurors, and there is no reason to believe they were any less favorable to him than others in the jury pool. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 113, 631 S.E.2d 244, 248 (2006) (holding defendant was not prejudiced by improper Batson challenge because he was not denied legitimate strikes and there was no evidence jury was “tainted” by re-selection), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). The possibility that he “might have” used his strikes differently is not sufficient to show he was denied an impartial jury.

The one juror to whom Kester did object after exhausting his strikes was employed by the Public Safety Division of the Department of Mental Health. (R.p.89). Judge Newman (perhaps sensing the potential for unfairness) struck this juror for cause, even though the juror stated during voir dire that she had formed no opinion about the case and did not stand when the potential jurors were asked if there was any reason why any of them could not be fair and impartial. (R.p.66, line 15; 73–76). The juror did not know any of the witnesses, which included Livingston’s friends and family. (R.p.68). Judge Newman did not strike a similarly situated juror for cause, even though her husband was a psychiatrist at DMH. (R.pp.81–82). Thus, it appears the trial judge essentially gave Kester an extra strike to avoid any danger of unfairness.

The judge also gave Kester extra leeway to conduct voir dire, allowing him to ask specific questions of potential jurors. (R.p.85; 90–91). Accordingly, Kester has not demonstrated prejudice. See State v. Motley, 251 S.C. 568, 575, 164 S.E.2d 569, 572 (1968) (explaining that the burden is on the Appellant to satisfy the court that there was prejudicial error). This Court should affirm.

III.

The court's Allen charge was not coercive because it did not convey that the jurors were required to reach a verdict.

Kester claims the trial court's Allen charge was unconstitutionally coercive. This argument is not preserved for review because Kester did not object to the language of the charge at trial. Even if preserved, the charge was not coercive because it did not instruct the jurors that they were required to reach a verdict and was not directed at minority jurors. Instead, it correctly instructed the jurors to attempt to reach a unanimous verdict while at the same time not relinquishing their firmly-held beliefs merely for the sake of unanimity. This court should affirm.

Standard of review.

In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions, an appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996).

Error preservation.

Kester did not object at trial on the same specific ground he raises on appeal. At trial, he objected to the court giving an Allen charge at all, urging mistrial was the only proper solution when the jury indicated they had not come to a unanimous verdict "concerning all twelve counts." (R.p.381-84). He never claimed the charge itself was coercive, and never objected to the "hope you can arrive at a verdict" language he cites on appeal (or any other language in the charge). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for review. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (explaining a party may not argue one ground at trial and

another on appeal); State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (objection must be entered on specific ground at trial to preserve an issue for appeal).

Discussion.

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